IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 1999-53

SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 97-4845

GEORGE W. GARBUTT,

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

Petitioner,

JAN 1 0 2000

vs.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ROSEMARY LaFARNARA,

Respondent.

On Certified Question of Great Public Importance from the Second District Court of Appeal for the State of Florida

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DAVID B. KROUK, ESQUIRE
PIPER, ESTEVA, GREEN, KARVONEN & LEWIS
3637 Fourth Street North, Suite 410
St. Petersburg, Florida 33704
(727) 821-6550
Florida Bar No. 949840
Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner in this case, George W. Garbutt, was the defendant and appellant below. He will be referred to as "Mr. Garbutt" in this brief. The Respondent, Rosemary LaFarnara, was the plaintiff and appellee below and will be referred to as "Ms. LaFarnara" herein. Citations to the record will be contained in a parenthetical beginning with the letter "R" followed by the volume and page number. Citations to the trial transcript will be referenced by the record volume number, not the transcript volume number, followed by the page number. An appendix, containing certain documents and transcripts referenced in this brief, is filed contemporaneously herewith pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220. References to the appendix will be in a parenthetical containing the word "Appendix" followed by a tab number and a page number. The opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal is contained in Appendix A.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review certified questions of great public importance pursuant to Article V, \$3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). The certified question in the instant case concerns the issue of when a party must object to preserve for review improper comments made by opposing counsel during closing The District Courts of Appeal have struggled with this argument. issue for several years, and have developed a split of authority on the issue of when an appellate court may review improper comments without objection. See, e.g., Murphy v. International Robotics Systems, Inc., 710 So.2d 587 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), rev. granted, 722 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1998); Fravel v. Haughey, 727 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). In fact, the resolution of this conflict is currently pending before this Court in <u>Murphy v. International Robotics</u> Systems, Inc., case no. 92,837. Regardless of how this Court resolves Murphy, the bar of this State will require further guidance as to the proper procedure for preserving error in closing argument. The instant case provides this Court with an opportunity to clarify the issue raised in Murphy by advising practicing attorneys throughout the state as to whether it is necessary to object immediately upon the utterance of an improper comment, or if a party may approach the bench later with a timely motion for mistrial to preserve the error. This case also presents an important policy issue addressed by Judge Blue's concurring opinion

below, namely whether the responsibility for making proper arguments should be placed on the party victimized by improper comments. (Appendix A, p.4). Furthermore, this Court will need to decide whether unscrupulous attorneys should be permitted to engage in unethical conduct without punishment, simply because their opponents moved for a mistrial without making constant objections.

Of course, if this Court accepts jurisdiction on the certified question, it may also review the entire case. <u>Bell v. State</u>, 394 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1981); <u>Lawrence v. Florida East Coast Railway Co.</u>, 346 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 1977). Therefore, some of the remaining issues on appeal, which present compelling issues of fundamental fairness, are addressed in this brief as well.¹

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises from a judgment entered pursuant to a jury verdict in the Circuit Court for Pinellas County, Florida. The judgment was entered against Mr. Garbutt and in favor of Ms. LaFarnara in excess of \$1,200,000.00 in compensatory damages plus \$500,001.00 in punitive damages. A motion for new trial was filed by Mr. Garbutt, which was denied in a 68-page opinion by Circuit Judge David Demers. (R.46, p.7326, et seq., Appendix B) On appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal, the appellate court affirmed the verdict, but certified a question of great public importance indicating that reversal would be warranted if this Court finds that the issue was preserved for review. In a

¹Judge Blue characterized the case as "unusual if not bizarre" with "epic" problems. (Appendix A, p.3).

concurring opinion, Judge Blue urges this Court to affirmatively answer the question and reverse the judgment. Upon notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction, this Court reserved ruling on jurisdiction and directed the parties to file briefs on the merits.

Ms. LaFarnara's claim arises from a two year relationship lasting from March of 1987 through May of 1989, during which she and Mr. Garbutt cohabitated at his home in Treasure Island, Florida. Ms. LaFarnara now claims that Mr. Garbutt physically abused her on numerous occasions during the relationship. She further claims that Mr. Garbutt engaged in a campaign of conduct designed to harass and intimidate her, and as a result she suffered severe emotional distress. Additionally, she claims that Mr. Garbutt uttered defamatory remarks to a number of individuals in the community. Accordingly, her complaint set forth counts for assault and battery, intentional infliction of emotional distress, defamation and a permanent injunction. (R.15, p.2082-88)

There were no third party eyewitnesses to any of the alleged incidents of abuse. The only person who offered any direct evidence was Ms. LaFarnara herself. However, it was established at trial that Ms. LaFarnara had lied under oath on several occasions. She was confronted with deposition transcripts from an auto accident case in 1984 where she admitted to lying, (R.52, p.572-77; R.54, p.765-69, 773-80), and depositions from a 1990 worker's compensation case where she also admitted to lying, (R.54, p.782-85, 792, 813-14, 833-34). She also admitted to failing to tell the truth on the witness stand in this case. (R.50, p.347).

Ultimately, she confessed that "a lot" of her testimony in this trial was not based upon present recollection, but that she was reading from interrogatory answers prepared years earlier. (R.103 p.8260).

The defense presented substantial evidence to rebut Ms. LaFarnara's claims of abuse. For example, witnesses who saw Ms. LaFarnara the day after an allegedly savage attack testified that they noted nothing wrong. (R.70, p.3358-60; R.71, p.3537, 3552-56). Neither did another witness who had dinner with Ms. LaFarnara the evening that Mr. Garbutt allegedly caused her to sustain a concussion. (R.84, p.5310-11).

Ms. LaFarnara claimed that as a result of this alleged abuse, she suffered both physical and psychological injuries. The physical injuries she claimed were a cervical strain and sprain, aggravation of a preexisting degenerative condition in her cervical spine, and post-traumatic-head-injury syndrome, also known as post-concussion syndrome. Her claimed psychological injuries included depression and battered spouse syndrome. (R.15, p.2082-2088).

Despite her claims of severe psychological and physical injury, Ms. LaFarnara admits to having remarried. Her new husband testified that they have gone on lengthy car trips to Ohio and New York, that she puts on ceramic shows, and that she does some of the housework. (R.57, p.1253-56). He also testified that all she does for her pain is take Tylenol and lie down. (R.57, p.1259).

IMPROPER COMMENT ON CLOSING ARGUMENT

Although Mr. Garbutt urged a substantial number points of

error on appeal, the Second District Court has certified a question concerning closing argument. During his argument, Ms. LaFarnara's attorney, Robert Merkle, made numberous improper comments. Mr. Garbutt raised 34 such comments in his Motion for New Trial, fifteen of which were found to be improper by the trial judge. (Appendix B, p.41-50, R.46 p.7367-77). The appellate court found that at least some of the remaining comments were also improper. (Appendix A, p.4-5). Comments by appellee's counsel in closing argument and rebuttal are contained in Appendix D filed contemporaneously herewith.

The first category of objectionable comments were comments which belittled the defense and accused Mr. Garbutt's attorney of lying. Some examples of these comments, all of which are contained in the Appendix, included:

Now, folks, if a used car salesman tries to sell me a car that doesn't have an engine in it, I am not going to buy a car from that person ever. If I want to go hunting and I buy a hunting dog and that dog won't hunt, I am not going to buy a dog from whoever sold it to me ever. (R.108, p.8977).

Now, so counsel's statement to you that these reports clearly showed degeneration of the upper cervical spine is hogwash. He is selling you a car without an engine. (R.108, p.8979).

So, folks, that dog don't hunt. And let me tell you something. You spent now since one o'clock, almost - it's after six o'clock, the best part of five hours this afternoon listening to Mr. Lewis, and what has he been doing? He wanted to talk about blowing smoke, blowing smoke; he is blowing smoke at you. And if you had the disposition of Mr. Garbutt and there were hamburgers in front of you, you would probably throw them at him. That's what he is doing here in this courtroom. (R.108, p.8981).

At this point, defense counsel objected and brought to the

court's attention that it is improper to belittle the defense with such comments as "blowing smoke." (R.108, p.8984-85). The court did not rule on this objection at this time, and counsel continued:

But Mr. Lewis is blowing smoke at you, and it is the apotheosis, if you will, the culmination, the fulfillment of what was designed by his client in 1990, his only defense, every single point, every single argument that is made here by Mr. Lewis, takes that seed and causes it to grow into a huge, blossoming weed. And it is the ultimate insult to your intelligence now to suggest, as he has done, that her hospitalization in the middle of this trial is a sham, that Dr. Walker is a liar or Dr. Walker was fooled, that she really didn't have to go into the hospital. (R.108, p.8982).

That represents, seems to me, ladies and gentlemen, another smoking gun to you of the fraudulent nature of the defense in this case. (R.108, p.8983).

Well, ladies and gentlemen, if you believe this cock and bull, pigs fly, pigs fly, and pigs do not fly. They don't. (R.108, p.8984).

At this point, there was an overnight recess in the midst of Ms. LaFarnara's rebuttal argument. The next morning, before counsel had concluded his rebuttal argument, the court sustained the objection to the "blowing smoke" comment. (R.109, p.8894). Immediately thereafter, Mr. Garbutt objected to Ms. LaFarnara's attorney belittling the defense and moved for a mistrial, objecting to ten improper comments. (R.109, p.8997-98). The court denied

²The comments included comparing Mr. Lewis' argument to a used-car salesman attempting to sell a car without an engine; selling a dog that doesn't hunt; to blowing smoke; to insulting the jury's intelligence; to being a fraudulent defense; that the only joke in this case is the defense; there's been a lot of fog thrown at you in this defense; the defense has been carried out to elaborate and expensive extreme; the problem with the defense is that it's so carefully constructed it collapses; it seems the philosophy of the defense is, the greater the imagination, the more likely you're going to buy it. (R.109, p.8998).

the motion for mistrial, but noted that the comments were improper.

(R.109, p.9003). Despite this ruling, counsel's argument continued to include comments such as:

And quite frankly, ladies and gentlemen, if - if defense counsel wants to stand up here, either for his lack of comprehension or his zeal for representing his client - I don't know. I'm not suggesting he's lying, but if he wants to stand up here and tell you, time and time again, that the earth is flat, it doesn't make it flat, and you have a duty to reject that argument. (R.109, p.9031).

Additional comments of this nature, including several made in the punitive damage phase of the trial, are contained in Appendix D due to space limitations.

Appellee's counsel also made numerous comments concerning matters outside the evidence in the case. Those comments are contained in Appendix D, along with comments on Mr. Garbutt's failure to call two witnesses and comments on the veracity of witnesses.

EVIDENCE GENERATED DURING THE TRIAL

A. New Medical Evidence

During a three-day previously scheduled break in the trial, Ms. LaFarnara had new X-rays and MRIs of the cervical spine taken had a brain MRI completed, and consulted with Dr. Afield, a neuropsychologist, for the first time. This evidence was first brought to the attention of the trial court immediately after the break. (R.61, p.1773). As a result, the testimony of two of Ms. LaFarnara's expert witnesses substantially changed. Dr. Wassel, an orthopedist, testified that based upon this new evidence, the

injury to the spine had gotten worse, (R.69, p.3071), and the xrays showed damage to the upper cervical spine which could only be (R.69, p.3636-37, 3650-51). caused by repeated trauma, Furthermore, he testified that Ms. LaFarnara's future medical costs would be \$2,500 per year instead of \$500.00 per year as he had originally opined, (R.72, p.3651-52), and that, instead of a permanent impairment of 23% of the body as a whole, she now suffers a permanent impairment of 50% of the body as a whole, (R.72, p.3709, 3662). Additionally, Dr. Witek, a radiologist, testified that the new X-rays indicated that the condition in the neck had gotten worse. (R.69, p.3071).

The court expressed concern about this evidence, and contemplated a mistrial, (R.61, p.1856), but instead ordered that no mention of this evidence could be made until the defense had an opportunity to conduct discovery, (R.62, p.1875). After protestation by Ms. LaFarnara's counsel to mid-trial discovery, however, the court ruled that none of the evidence was admissible. (R.62, p.2011-12). After further protest by Ms. LaFarnara's counsel, the court indicated that it would consider granting a mistrial on its own motion. (R.62, p.2056).

Instead of a mistrial, the court granted the defense a three-day continuance based upon the admission of evidence of certain telephone calls, which will be discussed below. The court directed the parties to attempt to deal with the new medical evidence during that recess as well. (R.63, p.2096, 2100). Instead of using that time to try to remedy the situation, however, Ms. LaFarnara

compounded the problem by submitting to additional testing and produced a whole new battery of brain damage evidence, including "computerized brain mapping." (R.63, p.2113). This evidence was directly contrary to Ms. LaFarnara's own neuropsychological expert, Dr. Sidney Merin, who had testified that there was insufficient evidence to conclude there was any neuropsychological or organic brain injury. (R.76, p.4160). The court then granted Mr. Garbutt's motion in limine to exclude all of this newly-created medical evidence, (R.63, p.2110, 2156).

Despite the court's ruling, counsel for Ms. LaFarnara continued to press the point, arguing that the defense would "open the door" to this evidence by denying that Mr. Garbutt injured Ms. LaFarnara. (R.63, p.2156-69). Once again, the court contemplated a mistrial. (R.63, p.2157). In presenting arguments on this issue, counsel for Mr. Garbutt pointed out that this evidence was voluntarily generated by Ms. LaFarnara during the trial, and was thus distinguishable from that type of evidence which would arise from a sudden medical emergency over which a party has no control. (R.64, p.2245). Counsel for Ms. LaFarnara conceded on numerous occasions that this new evidence was disastrous to the defense position and that no amount of time could cure the prejudicial effect of this evidence. (R.64, p.2192-93, 2199-2204). On the hand, counsel for Ms. LaFarnara continued to arque strenuously that, even if the defense was prejudiced by the new brain evidence, it could not be prejudiced by the cervical spine (R.64, p.2238). Based upon these arguments, the court

ruled that the brain damage evidence and all of Dr. Afield's testimony and test results were inadmissible for any reason, including rebuttal. (R.64, p.2258). However, despite its earlier rulings, the court ruled that it would wait until after the midtrial deposition of Ms. LaFarnara's orthopedic expert, Dr. Wassel, to determine the admissibility of the cervical spine films. (R.64, p.2258).

After Dr. Wassel's deposition, Mr. Garbutt moved in limine again to exclude the newly-generated spine films and Dr. Wassel's testimony. (R.66, p.2487). Despite the fact that these films were taken during the trial, and that the court had previously excluded them on three occasions, the court denied the motion in limine and allowed the spine films to be used in evidence. (R.66, p.2507).

B. Ms. LaFarnara's Mid-Trial Hospitalization

The day after the Court ruled that Dr. Afield could not testify for any purpose, (R.64, p.2258), and defense counsel argued that going to Dr. Afield was distinct from an emergency hospitalization, (R.64, p.2245), Ms. LaFarnara was excused from court due to alleged illness. (R.67, p.2673). That weekend, it was disclosed that Ms. LaFarnara was hospitalized in a psychiatric ward on an emergency basis. (R.68, p.2476). The court again considered a mistrial but instead granted a three-day continuance in order to evaluate Ms. LaFarnara's condition. (R.68, p.2912, 2920). The defense objected to the continuance, and pointed out to the court that this hospitalization would generate a plethora of surprise evidence which Mr. Garbutt could not possibly meet in the

middle of the trial. (R.68, p.2923-25). At that point, on four separate occasions, the trial court considered whether a mistrial was the only solution. (R.68, p.2923, 2925, 2933, 2938).

On the last day of the three-day recess, the court denied the defendant's motion in limine to exclude all evidence of the hospitalization. (R.69, p.3004). In so ruling, the court applied the "newly discovered evidence" standard which is ordinarily applied when considering motions for new trial after new evidence arises. (R.69, p.3007-10). The court also ruled that the defense was entitled to a psychiatric IME, to be conducted later in the week. (R.69, p.3028). In making further rulings on the hospitalization, the court pointed out that "at this particular point it's pretty much a big mess anyway." (R.70, p.3207).

After deposing Ms. LaFarnara's treating psychiatrist, Dr. Walker, the defense again filed a motion in limine to exclude his testimony. (R.74, p.3801). In arguing that motion, the defense pointed out that after being excused by the court for illness, Ms. LaFarnara in fact went to see Dr. Afield, whose testimony had previously been excluded. (R.74, p.3801). Instead of treating Ms. LaFarnara himself, Dr. Afield asked Dr. Walker, who had never treated or examined Ms. LaFarnara, to admit her to St. Joseph's Hospital under Dr. Walker's name. (R.74, p.3801-02). Dr. Afield then dictated the admission documents and admitted Ms. LaFarnara to the hospital the next day, after which Dr. Walker saw her the following day. (R.74, p.3802). Dr. Walker testified that Ms. LaFarnara was not suicidal or out of touch with reality when he

first saw her, and admitted that if she had presented herself to him, he would not have hospitalized her. (R.74, p.3807-3812).

Despite these facts, the court ruled that Dr. Walker would be allowed to testify, based upon the doctor's testimony that he did feel that the hospitalization was medically necessary. (R.74, p. 3818). After that ruling, counsel for Mr. Garbutt moved for a mistrial contingent upon the court reserving ruling until after the verdict. (R.74, p.3827). The court, however, would not reserve ruling but indicated that it would rule on the motion when made. (R.74, p.3830-32). Therefore, Mr. Garbutt withdrew the motion. (R.74, p.3833). The court agreed that the motion was probably premature at that point because the evidence had not yet actually come before the jury. (R.74, p.3833).

During cross-examination of Dr. Walker, the court ruled that if the defense asked any questions about Dr. Afield, then Ms. LaFarnara could ask questions on re-direct examination going to the issue of brain damage. (R.75, p.4034-47, Appendix E). Under those circumstances, the defense withdrew the questions and was thereby precluded from cross-examining the doctor as to the circumstances surrounding Ms. LaFarnara's referral from Dr. Afield. (R.75, p.4045, 4048).

Ms. LaFarnara was later recalled to the stand to testify as to

³Mr. Garbutt attempted to avoid a mistrial at this time because his insurance company, which had been providing his defense, had obtained a summary judgment in a companion case finding no coverage in the middle of this trial. Therefore, if a mistrial were granted, he would be unable to afford to defend himself on a retrial. (R.68, p.2890, 2994).

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