IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 1 0 2000

CASE NO: 1999-53

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 97-4845

GEORGE W. GARBUTT,

Petitioner,

V.

ROSEMARY LaFARNARA,

Respondent.

On Certified Question of Great Public Importance from the Second District Court of Appeal for the State of Florida

Respondent's Answer Brief on the Merits

David J. Plante
Florida Bar No. 990582

Merkle & Magri, P.A.

5510 W. LaSalle Street

Tampa, Florida 33607

(813) 281-9000'

Attorney for Respondent Rosemary LaFarnara

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

²⁷Of course, under Carbutt's proposed theory of improper argument, the undersigned by pointing out this material omission has 'unethically" and "unscrupulously" "belittled the defense."

inter alia, "Why would I charge him with first degree murder? ... Because he's guilty of first-degree premeditated murder. I am prosecuting him for it gladly. .. I don't prosecute people who have legitimate self defense claims.") Airport Rent-A-Car, Inc. v. Lewis, 701 So.2d 893 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) (comments included, inter alia, Appellee's attorney's father was a preacher so he "know[s] what the truth is" made in contravention to court ruling and comments that the appellant was crazy and had improperly turned the appellee into the IRS, absent anything in the record to support such. Kendall Skating Centers, Inc. v. Martin, 448 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) (decided based on line of cases, including dissent in Metropolitan Dade County v. Dillon, 305 So.2d 36 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974), finding a gratuitous attack on opposing counsel that "was in no way a comment on the evidence presented to the jury."). Accordingly, the cases relied upon by Garbutt are clearly inapposite and in no way dispositive of the issues before this court.

Given the foregoing, the ten statements, to which Garbutt failed to contemporaneously object but which formed the basis for his motion for mistrial, when read in context were proper comments on the evidence and were not in any way similar to the conduct at issue in the cases cited by Garbutt. Notably, the disingenuous nature of Garbutt's protestations of impropriety is further evidenced by the fact that Earbutt's counsel made similar comments to those which he now contends are so prejudicial". Accordingly, Garbutt's assertion that it was "unscrupulous" and "unethical" for LaFarnara's counsel in closing argument to have advised and demonstrated to the jury, through reference to specific record evidence, that various propositions presented to the jury were either false and/or implausible, is a car without an

²⁸Garbutt's counsel during closing argument (a) five times asserted that LaFarnara's and/or her witnesses' assertions were "nonsense" (R. 108, p. 8857, 8897, 8911, 8938, 8954); (b) asserted that LaFarnara's and/or her witnesses' assertions were "a bunch of hokum" "a bunch of malarkey" and didn't "amount[] to a hill of beans" (R108, 8913-14, 8929); (c) asserted that the jury would have to be insane to believe that LaFarnara stayed with Garbutt after being beat. (R108, 8906); and (d) accused LaFarnara's counsel of intentionally "misleading" and "tr[ying] to trick" the jury and of intentionally telling the jury things that are "not true." (R116, 9735, 9733).

engine; a dog that doesn't hunt.

B. A BELATED MOTION FOR MISTRIAL, ABSENT A CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION, DOES NOT PRESERVE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW ASSERTED CLAIMS OF ERROR.

Not only were the comments of LaFarnara's counsel proper, Garbutt's belated motion for a mistrial asserting as a basis ten comments made the previous day to which Garbutt did not contemporaneously object, was insufficient to preserve such matters for appellate review.

Nixonv. State. 572 So.2d 1336 (Fla 1990), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 854 (1991). See also, Craig v. State. 510 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1987). Garbutt and the district court concurrence appear to suggest that a motion for mistrial based on specific grounds made prior to the end of closing argument will preserve for appellate review any and all comments made during the course of the closing argument, regardless of the party's failure to raise a contemporaneous objection and regardless of whether such comment was even asserted as a basis for the motion for mistrial. This court has repeatedly and unequivocally rejected such a proposition. For example, in Craig, this court held:

A motion for mistrial based on certain grounds cannot operate to preserve for appellate review other issues not raised by specific objection at trial. Thus, defense counsel's attempt, when he objected on the ground of repeated references to the defendant as having lied in his testimony, to have his motion apply to the whole argument, thus preserving for review objections not specifically made to the trial court, must fail with the result that most objections argued are being raised for the first time on appeal.

510 So.2d at 864. Similarly, this Court in Nixon v. State, 572 So.2d 1336 (Fla 1990), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 854 (1991), expressly and unequivocally held that a motion for mistrial made before the case is submitted to the jury, absent a contemporaneous objection to the alleged improper comment, is insufficient to preserve the claimed error for appellate review. 572 So.2d at 134 1. This court explained:

Nixon argues that under *Czzmbie* his motion for mistrial at the close of argument, absent a contemporaneous objection, was sufficient to preserve this issue [of an alleged golden rule comment] for appeal. We do not construe *Cumbie* to obviate the need for a contemporaneous objection. The requirement of a contemporaneous objection is based

on practical necessity and basic fairness in the operation of the judicial system. A contemporaneous objection places the trial judge on notice that an error may have been committed and thus, provides the opportunity to correct the error at an early stage of the proceedings, Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978). While the motion for mistrial may be made as late as the end of closing argument, a timely objection must be made in order to allow curative instructions or admonishment to counsel. As noted by defense counsel in this case, in many instances curative instruction at the end of closing would be of no avail. Accordingly, defense counsel's motion for mistrial at the end of closing argument, absent a contemporaneous objection, was insufficient to preserve this claim under our decision in Cumbic.

Id. Accord, 14B Fla. Jur. 2d, Criminal Law, §1888 (Law. Coop. 1993) ("Absent a contemporaneous objection, a motion for mistrial at the end of closing argument is insufficient to preserve an issue for appeal."); Walker v. State, 707 So.2d 300, 302, n. 8 (Fla. 1997) ("So long as defendant makes a timely specific objection and moves for mistrial . . A curative instruction need not be requested."): Spencer v. State, 645 So. 2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994)("The issue [of improper argument] is preserved if the defendant makes a timely specific objection and moves for a mistrial."); Gutierrez v, State, 731 So.2d 94, 95 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)("While a motion for mistrial may be made as late as the end of closing argument, a timely objection must be made in order to allow a curative instruction or admonishment to counsel."); James v. State, 741 So. 2d 546, 549 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (rejecting discretion of court to permit party to 'defer making a contemporaneous objection to objectionable matters in prosecutor's closing argument until its conclusion [:] . . . There must be an objection at the time objectionable remarks are made... This is to allow the court to immediately cure any error . . . objectionable material must be excised from the juror's consideration immediately."); Horn v. Atchison, 394 P.2d 561 (Cal. 1964), cert. denied, 380 U.S. 909 (1965)(holding counsel's belated motion for mistrial absent contemporaneous objection waived claimed error); Grimshaw v. Ford Motor Co., 174 Cal. Rptr. 348 (Cal Ct. App. 1981) ("Misconduct of counsel during argument may not be raised on appeal where the complaining party's counsel sat silently by during the argument, allowed the improprieties to accumulate without objection, and simply made a motion for

mistrial at the conclusion of the argument."). See also Kilgore v. State, 688 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1996) ("We have held that allegedly improper prosecutorial comments cannot be appealed unless a contemporaneous objection is recorded.") This Court in Norton v. State, 709 So.2d 87 (Fla. 1997), again reiterated its holding in Nixon and the policy reasons underlying the contemporaneous objection requirement:

defense counsel's failure to raise a contemporaneous objection to the comment at the time it was made waived his right to argue this issue on appeal. The purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule is to place the trial judge on notice that an error may have occurred and provide him or her with the opportunity to correct the error at an early stage in the proceedings. "[A] timely objection must be made in order to allow curative instructions or admonishment to counsel." Nixon v. State, 572 So.2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1990). Thus, despite appellant's motion for mistrial at the close of the witness' testimony, his failure to raise an appropriate objection at the time of the impermissible comment failed to adequately preserve the issue for appellate review.

709 So.2d at 94. In short, this Court, based on sound policy reasons, has, particularly in the context of allegations of improper comment, consistently required adherence to the contemporaneous objection rule absent a finding that the alleged error was fundamental, i.e.:

(a) was "so pervasive, inflammatory and prejudicial as to preclude rational consideration of the case;" (b) was "so extreme that it could not have been corrected by an instruction if an objection had been lodged" and (c) "so damaged the fairness of the trial that the public's interest in our system ofjustice justifies a new trial even when no lawyer took steps necessary to give a party the right to demand a new trial." See Hagan v. Sun Bank of Mid-Florida, 666 So.2d 580 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996); Tyus v. Analachicola Northern R.R., 130 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1961). To now abandon this precept in favor of a belated motion for mistrial lodged prior to the end of closing argument would create precedent harmful to our system of justice. The absence of a contemporaneous objection deprives the trial court an opportunity to have fresh in its mind the

²⁹ In the instant case, the trial court, though erroneously believing certain of LaFarnara's counsel's comments to be improper, expressly concluded that such comments considered individually and collectively did not rise to this level.

context of the comment and its purported prejudicial affect on the jury. It also deprives the offending party the opportunity to correct and/or restate the offending comment³⁰ and deprives the trial court of the opportunity to cure any alleged error early in the proceedings before its cumulative effect arguably necessitates a new trial or appellate reversal. It also fosters a trial strategy of silence to perceived improper conduct for the intended purpose of creating an additional basis to argue for reversal at the trial and appellate levels in the event that party does not prevail In contrast, the just&cations espoused for abandoning the contemporaneous objection rule are fundamentally flawed. For example, not all improper comments result from either ignorance or duplicity. As can be gleaned from this appeal alone, reasonable persons and itrists han and dosdisagree as to the propriety ofocertain comments³¹. underscored by the fact that the propriety of a given comment is dependant in large part on the evidence in the record and the context of the statement. Furthermore, there is no reasonable justification for the taxpayers and the judicial system of this state to bear the burden and expense of review and repeat trials when opposing counsel did not think so much of the purported transgression to contemporaneously object and provide the trial court a timely opportunity to assess the comment in its context and its purported prejudicial influence. Accordingly, this Court should answer the certified question by reaffirming its holdings in Nixon and Craig.

³⁰Carried to its logical conclusion, a party could during an opponent's direct examination of a witness create a list of all leading and otherwise inappropriate questions that were asked and after conclusion of the direct motion the court to strike the offending questions and answers and/or move for mistrial.

³¹See also, Honorable L.A. Klien, Allowine Improper Argument of Counsel To Be Raised For the First Time on Anneal as Fundamental Error, 26 F.S.U. Law. Rev. 97, 122 (Fall 1998) ("In any event, whether it is experience or something else, judges have widely divergent views on what is improper argument); Norman v. Gloria Farms, Inc., 668 So.2d 1016, 1032 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (dissent) ("The personal views of judges on what constitutes improper argument are as boundless among judges as they are among lawyers in general. It will be very rare to find two judges whose unique sense of propriety is less tolerant than others.")

C. GARBUTT'S REMAINING CLAIMS OF ERROR LACK MERIT: VERDICT SUPPORTED BY OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE.

The trial court and the district court have each rejected Garbutt's other asserted claims of error. Because of space limitations and the need to adequately address the issue certified to this Court, LaFarnara refers this court to the detailed fact statement above and incorporates by reference the legal arguments contained in Lafanara's Answer Brief filed with the district court. Such brief is included as item J of LaFarnara's Appendix. Significantly, the trial court in a careful opinion warranted by the significance of this case rejected Garbutt's other claims of error and expressly found that the verdict was not excessive and was, in fact, supported by the evidence in the case:

The evidence permitted the conclusion that as a result of the Defendant's conduct, the Plaintiff has suffered a 50% permanent disability of her body, post-traumatic stress disorder and substantial loss of her cognitive abilities evidencing brain damage. Further the Plaintiff's permanent disability rating will likely increase in the future. Accordingly, the jury could reasonably have concluded that the Plaintiff constantly worries about her physical injuries including the realistic prospect of further brain damage and further cognitive deficiencies, rendering her dependant on others for the remainder of her life.

(R46, 7332-33; App A, p. 7-8). The trial court also found that the verdict did not result from passion or prejudice and was, in fact, the result of careful deliberation:

Other factors support this conclusion [that the jury's verdict was not arbitrary and was not the result of passion and prejudice] . . . The jury did not make a hasty decision. To the contrary, the jury deliberated for about seven hours before reaching its verdict on compensatory damages. Furthermore, as to punitive damages, it was obvious that the jury was careful in determining the proper award. There was evidence that the

Defendant had practically no assets to over \$4,000,000 in assets. The jury set punitive damages precisely at \$501,000. In doing so, it is clear that the jurors took their job seriously and deliberated carefully.

(R46, 7335, App. B, 10). Accordingly, even if Garbutt's position is accepted with respect to the propriety of the comments and preservation of the issue for appellate review, any alleged error relating to such comments was harmless. See § 59.401, Fla. Stat. (1994)(providing that a civil judgment shall not be reversed, unless "after examination of the entire case it shall appear that the error complained of has resulted in a miscarriage of justice."); Hagan 666 So.2d at 585 (explaining that the legal standard for new trial based upon preserved error is whether the comments were "highly prejudicial and inflammatory," i.e. an analysis "similar to [that] used to decide whether the jury's verdict is defective because it is excessive, inadequate, or contrary t the manifest weight of the evidence."). Cleveland Clinic Florida v. Wilson, 685 So.2d 15 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)(en banc)(affirming harmless error as to preserved alleged golden rule argument).

IV. CONCLUSION

This is an important abuse case. As the factual statement reflects and the trial judge carefully found, the verdict and the judge's independent findings were supported by the evidence and were not the result of passion or prejudice. In short, Garbutt's classic abuser defense of "accuse the abused" backfired. Accordingly, this Court should reject Garbutt's contention that it was "unscrupulous" and 'unethical" for LaFarnara's counsel in closing argument to advise and demonstrate to the jury through reference to specific record evidence, that certain propositions which Garbutt presented to the jury (either through evidence or argument) were false and implausible. This Court should also reject Garbutt and the concurrence's apparent suggestion that Florida abandon the contemporaneous objection rule and overturn this Court's opinions in, inter alia, Craig and Nixon.